
16 July 2018

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
will meet on

Monday, 23 July 2018
beginning at

7:00 pm
in the

Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF

TO: Councillor Cynthia Garton (Chair)
Councillor Janice Asman (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Margaret Allingham Councillor Carol Boulton
Councillor Ian Corben Councillor Richard Gomer
Councillor Keith House Councillor Lucy Jurd
Councillor Rupert Kyrle Councillor Derek Pretty
Councillor Bruce Tennent Councillor Adrian Trace

Staff Contacts: Amy Stephens, Democratic Services Officer Tel: 023 8068 8273; 
Email: Amy.stephens@eastleigh.gov.uk

Julia Birt, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8437;
Email: julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Performance and Governance Manager

_____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website - 
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings

as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and other 
languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the 
meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To 

register please contact the Democratic Services Officer above.
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording 

and photography at meetings open to the public, and that Councillors will be 
using tablet devices to access committee papers.

Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA

1. Public Participation    

2. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 8) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 June 2018.

3. Apologies    

4. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

5. Local Area Report    

6. Financial Management    (Pages 9 - 12)

7. Traffic Regulation Order    (Pages 13 - 20)

8. Presentation on Planning Guidelines    

9. Planning Application - Land to the north west of Boorley Green, Winchester Road    
(Pages 21 - 36) 

Variation of condition 12 of outline planning permission (O/15/75953) to enable foul 
drainage to be carried out in accordance with either the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment (Dec 2014) or details set out in the Foul Sewerage Assessment 
(March 2018 ref M380-Doc 05) (Ref: X/18/82986)

10. Planning Application - Twinoaks Guest House, Hedge End    (Pages 37 - 50) 

Change of use from Guest House (Use Class C1) to children's care home facility 
(use Class C2). (Ref: F/18/83174)

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Monday, 1 October 2018 at 7:00 pm

in the Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's 
Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news -

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

Monday, 11 June 2018  (7:00 pm – 8:15 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Asman (Vice Chair in the Chair); Councillors Asman, Allingham, 
Boulton, Corben, Gomer, House, Jurd, Kyrle and Trace

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Garton, Pretty and 
Tennent

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

1. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Councillor Colin Mercer, on behalf of Botley Parish Council, addressed the 
Committee regarding the Maypole roundabout. Councillor Mercer thanked 
his colleagues from both the Parish and Borough in pressing the issue, 
however the issue had not been resolved and Kings Copse Avenue still 
remained closed.  He had seen it three times that day and there was 
hardly anybody working on the site. As a professional engineer, he felt that 
there was no engineering reason why it remained closed and no evident 
safety reason.  Building vehicles continued to transit between the 
roundabout and the local development site at Sunday’s Hill and he felt that 
the general public should not have to experience such inconvenience so 
that it could be used as a car park for the workers. He hoped that there 
may soon be some action; he had asked for another meeting and so far 
had received no response.

Councillor Kyrle added that he agreed with Councillor Mercer and praised 
the town and parish councils and local members for being involved 
throughout the entire process whereby there had been terrible issues, 
including traffic congestion, burst water mains and night working without 
notice. Although it was not the fault of the contractor, there had been 
significant delay to the closure and he could not see any reasons as to 
why Kings Copse Avenue would remain shut until the end of June 2018.

The Chair advised that this was being looked at on a day by day basis and 
the Committee fully appreciated all of the concerns raised. 

2. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 March 2018 be confirmed 
and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

1

Agenda Item 2



2

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda. 

4. CHAIR'S REPORT

The Chair reported the following:

Local Area Committee changes

The Chair thanked former Borough Councillors Hall, Morris and 
Myerscough for their contribution to the Committee’s work. She also 
thanked Councillor Daniel Clarke for his work, especially as Vice Chair and 
then Chair of the Committee for the last two years. Councillor Clarke was 
now a ward member for Eastleigh North but he was still serving on West 
End Parish Council.

She welcomed Councillors Gomer, Jurd and Trace who were newly 
elected members of the Local Area Committee.

The Committee now oversaw a larger area within West End and the 
Hedge End wards had been amalgamated and were known as Hedge End 
North and Hedge End South.

The total number of councillors had been reduced from 13 to 12 because 
of the boundary changes and resulting catchments.

Local Plan Consultation

The venues and times for the Local Plan ‘drop in’ sessions had been 
announced. These sessions were part of the next stage in the preparation 
of the Borough Council’s Local Plan when local people, groups and 
organisations have the chance to give their views.

The details for the HEWEB venues were as follows:-

West End Parish Centre 5 July 2018 3pm – 7pm
2000 Centre, Hedge End 10 July 2018 4.45pm – 8pm
The Botley Centre 17 July 2018 3pm – 7pm

Mill Gardens Play Area, West End

The Chair was delighted to inform members that the contractor, Vita Play 
had completed the play area at Mill Gardens. The design of the play area 
was selected by local residents and was proving to be very popular.

2



3

West End Public Toilets

This Committee funded the majority of the project using developer’s 
contributions and reserves. Working in partnership with West End Parish 
Council, the toilets had now been installed within the Parish Council’s 
grounds and would be officially opened by The Mayor on Wednesday 13 
June 2018.

Boorley Green Working Group

The next meeting of the Working Group would take place on Monday 9 
July 2018. The developer would provide an update on the progress of the 
Boorley Park site and also the Group would be considering the impact of 
proposals for the re- routing of the Esso pipeline.

5. LOCAL AREA MANAGER'S REPORT

The Local Area Manager reported the following:

Public Art projects

Public consultation was being arranged at the West End Carnival on 16 
June 2018 for the design of the new Welcome to West End signage and 
the bespoke public art project on the old Moorgreen site, now The 
Pavilions. 

Responses to residents’ and councillors’ requests

Eden Road, West End – health and safety works had been carried out to 
the handrails on the walkway at a cost of £1,691.

Fly tipping signage had been purchased at a cost of £33 per local area. If 
successful, it was intended that additional signs would be purchased.

Berrywood Meadows, Hedge End – residents requested a kick-about area 
for youngsters. Currently this area was used mainly by dog walkers and 
after discussions with the Council’s Planners and Direct Services, it had 
been agreed that this would be maintained to allow for a temporary kick-
about area in the summer. This would be reviewed on an annual basis and 
the current cost was £1,354 per annum.

The Stumps – Howzat public art at the entrance to the Ageas Bowl – this 
had required a major clean and repaint before the high attendance 
matches commenced this season. These works had now been completed 
at a cost of £548.

Poseidon Boxing Club – the existing graphic on the window at the 
entrance to the Club had been badly damaged and required replacement 
at a cost of £220.

3



4

Birch Road – a resident had reported that cars and vans were parking on 
the verges which had caused damage and disrupted power to adjacent 
houses. As this matter was considered to be urgent, the Chair had 
approved expenditure of £469 for the installation of wooden posts on the 
verges.

Missenden Acres – residents had raised concerns about the felling of 
trees. This was investigated by the Council’s Enforcement team and Tree 
Officer. With the assistance of the Police, the parties responsible had now 
agreed to pay for replacement planting.

Parking issues – the Committee was conducting a review of priorities in 
the Hedge End, West End and Botley area and recommended schemes 
would come forward to the next meeting for consideration.

Assistant Local Area Manager

Siobhan Strand was now on secondment as the Assistant Local Area 
Manager. She would be concentrating initially on projects such as 
Cheltenham Gardens Pond, Woodstock Open Space, Roundabouts, 
Ratcliffe Road parking and street name plates.

6. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Consideration was given to the report of the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
Item 7) which recommended funding that would support projects which 
met identified local needs. The projects would also contribute to the 
achievement of corporate priorities.

RESOLVED – 

(1) That the experimental traffic regulation order for The Pavilions 
Development subject to consultation and the allocation of the 
developer’s contribution of £6,775 for this traffic regulation 
order be approved;

(2) That the allocation of the developer’s contribution of £15,714 
for traffic management proposals for The Pavilions 
development on match days at the Ageas Bowl be approved;

(3) That the allocation of the developer’s contribution of £15,800 
towards the West End boundary signs public art project be 
approved;

(4) That the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £183,000 
for the Itchen Valley Country Park phase 1 capital project be 
approved; and

(5) That the allocation of the developer’s contribution of £13,548 to 
the Mums and Tots Cycling project be approved. 

4



5

7. ANNUAL REVIEW 2017/18

Consideration was given to the Annual Review 2017/18 (Agenda Item 8) 
which highlighted the main areas of work undertaken by the Hedge End, 
West End and Botley (HEWEB) Local Area Committee in 2017/18. 

It also included a summary of the Chair’s annual review for 2017/18. This 
review was presented to the recent Annual Assemblies hosted by Hedge 
End Town Council, West End Parish Council and Botley Parish Council.

RESOLVED –

That the reported be noted. 

8. WILDERN LOCAL NATURE RESERVE

Consideration was given to the request the Committee had received from 
Hedge End Town Council to support them to submit a proposal to Natural 
England to upgrade the Wildern Nature Park to a Local Nature Reserve. 
The Committee was requested to delegate authority to Hedge End Town 
Council so that they were able to declare Wildern Nature Park as a Local 
Nature Reserve.

RESOLVED – 

That delegated authority be given to Hedge End Town Council to 
enable them to declare Wildern Nature Park as a Local Nature 
Reserve. 

(NOTE: George Baker, member of the Friends of Wildern Nature Park 
Group who had been working jointly with Hedge End Town Council to 
prepare the application for the nature park, spoke in support of the 
application.)

9. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES

Development Management staff gave a short presentation on guidelines 
that had to be taken into account when determining planning applications; 
in particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken into account.  
This was set against the broader policy framework.

10. PLANNING APPLICATION - SPARSHATTS OF BOTLEY LTD, BROAD 
OAK, BOTLEY

The Committee considered the report of the Lead Specialist for Housing 
(Formerly Head of Development Management) (Agenda item 11) for a 
retrospective application for the demolition of outbuilding and retention of 

5



6

retaining wall and boundary fence with associated alternations to parking 
arrangements.

The Committee was advised that additional plans regarding allocation of 
parking spaces for employees had been submitted.

Members proposed an amendment to Condition 3 to increase the number 
of parking spaces to 30 to ensure that there was a space for all employees 
and limit the impact on local residents. They also requested a revision to 
the submission of landscaping scheme to provide more detail with regard 
to the highway verge, as well as discussions with the highway authority 
regarding the possibility of a kerb being installed. In addition, that the 
vehicle delivery plan was submitted within one month of the application 
being approved. 

RESOLVED – 

That permission be GRANTED subject to:

(1) The recommended conditions and reasons; 

(2) Amendment to Condition 3 to read: “In accordance with a 
parking layout demonstrating 30 dedicated employee parking 
bays is to be submitted to the LPA within 1month of the date of 
this decision.  The submitted layout shall also demonstrate 
how the employee parking bays will be marked out and 
identified on site.  Within a period of three calendar months 
from the date of this consent the car parking area comprising 
153 spaces as shown on the drawing DD173L01 shall have 
been made available, surfaced, signed, marked out, and 
retained in a condition to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority.   The 30 dedicated employee parking bays shall be 
kept available at all times for the sole parking of the private 
vehicles of employees of Sparshatts Garage only.  The 30 
employee parking bays shall be clearly marked for the parking 
of staff vehicles only in accordance with the approved parking 
layout, and shall be permanently maintained as such.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety”;

(3) Amendment to Condition 5 to read: “Within 1 month of the date 
of this decision, a vehicle delivery strategy shall be submitted 
to the LPA for approval. Vehicle deliveries shall accord with 
the approved strategy and in any event shall not be delivered 
to the site or surrounding roads by car transporter with a 
gross vehicle weight of more than 7.5 tonnes. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.”; and

6



7

(4) Following liaison with the developer and Hampshire County 
Council, a more detailed landscaping plan and options for the 
prevent over-run of the verge to be agreed and final 
amendments to Condition 6 to be delegated back to the Chair, 
Vice Chair and Ward Councillors. 

          
(NOTES: a) A resident spoke in objection to the application citing concerns 
about the ongoing impact and stress caused to residents, the road traffic 
and safety impact on residents due to large numbers vehicle movements, 
and lack of a traffic management plan. The Chair also read out a public 
objection for a member who was unable to attend which raised concerns 
about impact on residential amenity and loss of privacy; and b) the agent 
spoken in support of the application. Councillor Colin Mercer on behalf of 
Botley Parish Council also spoke in support of the application; however he 
made some suggestions to support implementation of certain conditions to 
ensure that this was in the best interests of residents and the public.)

11. PLANNING APPEALS

The Legal Services Manager reported:-

(a) that the following appeals had been lodged:-

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for tree 
works at Upcross House, West End Road, Southampton. SO30 
3BT (Ref: T/17/82177).

This was a delegated decision

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the 
conversion of the existing house to create 1no. pair of semi-
detached dwellings, comprising 1no. three-bed and 1no. two-bed, 
including erection of rear single storey extensions and rear two 
storey extensions and associated car parking at 9 Bursledon Road, 
Hedge End, Southampton, SO30 0BP (Ref: F/17/80539). 

This was a delegated decision

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the 
construction of 1no. three-bedroom dwelling and single storey rear 
extension to 1 Kinsbourne Way (Ref: F/17/82176).

This was a delegated decision

(b) that the following appeal had been allowed:-

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for a 
two storey side extension at Holly Rise, Burnetts Lane, West End 
(Ref: H/17/80976).

This was a delegated decision.

7



8

RESOLVED -

That the report be noted.

12. APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES

RESOLVED – 

That the appointments to outside bodies for 2018/19 be as follows; 

Hedge End, West End and Botley Youth Partnership
- Councillor Pretty

North Whiteley Development Forum
- Councillor Pretty

Wildern Community Management Committee
- Councillor Garton

Hedge End, West End and Botley Community Business Group
- Councillor Pretty

Boorley Green Working Party
- Councillors Kyrle and Trace

13. APPOINTMENTS TO (A) REGULATORY PANEL; AND (B) COMMUNITY 
GRANTS SUB-GROUP

RESOLVED – 

That appointments for 2018/19 be made as follows;

(a) Regulatory Panel - all Members to serve as a ‘pool’, from which 
three Members to be called upon as required; and

(b) Community Grants Sub-Group - Councillors Gomer, Jurd and 
Trace with Councillor Garton in the Chair.

8



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

23 July 2018

 FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

   Report of the Local Area Manager 

Recommendations

It is recommended that this Committee:

(1) approves a contribution of £300 towards the Community Games to be held at 
Moorgreen Recreation Ground;

(2) approves funding of £2,119 for the hardstanding at Waterbeech Drive adjacent 
to properties 12 – 18; and

(3) approves funding of £1,500 for the repair of the Bird’s Nest Tree play 
structure at Itchen Valley Country Park.

Summary
The recommended funding will support projects which meet identified local needs. The 
projects will also contribute to the achievement of corporate priorities.

Statutory Powers
Section1 Localism Act 2011 

Strategic Implications

1. The proposed projects contribute to the Council’s strategic priorities especially 
in relation to Enabling Healthier Lifestyles and Wellbeing by encouraging 
people to use country parks and to take part in the Community Games for 
physical activity and mental wellbeing. All of the projects are based on local 
need and are therefore in accordance with the Local First project.

Community Games

2. The Community Games is a popular annual event featuring sporting activities 
and the ever popular “kids versus kops” rounders match. The Games will be 
staged this year on 15 August at Moorgreen Recreation Ground.

9

Agenda Item 6



Eastleigh Borough Council

3. The Games are free of charge and food is provided at a discounted price. 
West End Parish Council organise the Games and donate staff time and 
facility hire in kind.

4. The Hedge End, West End and Botley Youth Partnership has approved a 
grant of £300 to cover some of the costs and it is recommended that this 
Committee provides match funding. 

5. Councillors are therefore requested to approve expenditure of £300 from the 
local initiatives revenue budget.

Waterbeech Drive 

6. This Committee approved expenditure for a feasibility study to determine 
whether hard standing could be created to resolve the problem of vehicles 
overrunning the verge opposite those properties numbered 12 – 18 
Waterbeech Drive and to improve access for emergency vehicles.

7. The study revealed that ownership of the land in question could not be 
determined but the scope of the works was approved by Hampshire 
Highways. There were also 2 manholes within the strip of land which required 
replacement. It was agreed that none of the existing trees needed to be 
removed and that Hampshire Highways would replace any damaged kerb 
stones. 

8. The Council’s Direct Services team can carry out this work at a cost of £2,119. 
This can be afforded from this Committee’s small engineering works revenue 
budget and Councillors are therefore requested to approve this funding.

Play Equipment at Itchen Valley Country Park

9. The Birds’ Nest Tree play structure at Itchen Valley Country Park is currently 
out of action. The suppliers, Wicksteed have provided a quote to repair the 
Nest totalling £1,500.

10. This play structure is very popular and early repair is needed to ensure that it 
is available for the majority of the forthcoming school holidays.

11. Councillors are therefore requested to approve expenditure of £1,500 from 
this Committee’s revenue budget.

Financial Implications

12. All of the recommended funding streams can be afforded using this 
Committee’s revenue budget.

Risk Assessment

13. There is a risk that there may be some remedial work required to the 
hardstanding in Waterbeech Drive in future years but this is not considered to 
be onerous given the current budgets and especially as the work can be 

10



Eastleigh Borough Council

carried out in-house. There is a reputational risk if the play equipment at 
Itchen Valley Country Park is not repaired. Also if funding is not allocated, 
there is a risk that some of the Council’s corporate and local priorities will not 
be met.

Equality and Diversity Implications

14. The Equality Act is most relevant to the Community Games as the project 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity and 
fostering good relations between different people. An Equality Impact 
Assessment has been carried out by West End Parish Council.

Conclusion

15. The Committee is asked to approve the recommendations as outlined.  

JULIA BIRT
LOCAL AREA MANAGER

Date: 3 July 2018
Contact Officer: Julia Birt
Tel No: 023 8068 8437
e-mail: Julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: None

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information

11



This page is intentionally left blank



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

23 JULY 2018

VARIOUS ON STREET PARKING RESTRICTIONS

Report of the Environment Lead Specialist

Recommendations

It is recommended that  

(1) Councillors approve the removal of Cheltenham Gardens and Pretoria Road from 
the various order given the objections received;

(2) the proposals for Westward Road, Beattie Rise and Cheping Gardens are accepted 
as advertised;

(3) Cheltenham Gardens proceeds as an experimental order with a review at 6 months 
and that a decision is taken after 18 months following consultation and analysis of 
the feedback 

(4) Councillors approve the new proposals for traffic regulation at the junction of 
Pretoria Road and St. John’s Road with the issues further along and at the opposite 
end of Pretoria Road considered separately at a later date;

(5) The Pavilions (old Moorgreen Hospital site) proceeds as an experimental order 
subject to comment and agreement from the developer, Barratts; and

(6) feedback is to be reviewed for Upper St. Helen’s Road in consultation with the ward 
councillors so that an experimental traffic order can be implemented.

Summary

This report provides an update on new waiting restrictions which have been proposed in 
Cheping Gardens, Westward Road, Beattie Rise, Cheltenham Gardens, Pretoria Road, 
Upper St. Helen’s Road and The Pavilions. It summarises the responses received to-date 
and recommends how to proceed with the proposals.

13

Agenda Item 7



Eastleigh Borough Council

Statutory Powers

Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984; Traffic Management Act 2004.

Legal Agreements

Agency Agreement dated 30 March 2009 between Hampshire County Council and 
Eastleigh Borough Council

Strategic Implications

This report relates to the Corporate Plan objective of Tackling Congestion i.e. 
improving the use of the highway such that traffic can flow as freely and safely as 
possible. The issue also relates to the objective of an Excellent environment for all, 
and Local First principles of responding where possible to local concerns and making 
decisions at a local level.

Introduction

1. Cheping Gardens, Beattie Rise, Westward Road, Cheltenham Gardens and 
Pretoria Road were identified by this Committee as priorities for a various 
traffic order.

2. Site visits were undertaken to determine whether the proposed restrictions 
would address the issue at these locations. Initial consultation was undertaken 
with the statutory consultees, including the emergency services and public 
transport operators. Additionally local Councillors and Hampshire County 
Council (HCC) were consulted and no objections to the proposals were 
received.

3. Cheping Gardens has been investigated in response to reported and/or 
known visibility issues at the junction with Mortimer Road. A Traffic Regulation 
Order (TRO) for proposing ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions has been 
progressed (see Appendix 1)

4. Beattie Rise has been investigated in response to reported and/or known 
obstructive parking issues between properties No 9 and 14. A Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO) for proposing ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions has 
been progressed, to extend the existing no waiting restriction at the entrance 
to Beattie Rise (see Appendix 1).

5. Westward Road has been investigated in response to reported and/or known 
visibility issues thought to be a contributory factor in three collisions at the 
junction with Wildern Lane. A Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) for proposing ‘no 
waiting at any time’ restrictions has been progressed (see Appendix 1).

6. Cheltenham Gardens has been investigated in response to reported and/or 
known visibility issues which are mainly caused by users of the local train 

14



Eastleigh Borough Council

service. The original proposal was not progressed due to a high number of 
objections and therefore needs to be formally withdrawn from the various 
order. A new proposal has been consulted upon including a letter drop to 
residents living at Cheltenham Gardens (see Appendix 1).

7. Pretoria Road has been investigated in response to reported visibility issues 
and obstructive parking. This proposal has not been progressed due to a 
number of objections from local residents. This needs to be formally 
withdrawn from the initial various order. A new proposal has been consulted 
upon to improve visibility at the junction of Pretoria Road and St. John’s Road 
only (see Appendix 1).

8. This Committee needs to consider the comments received, before making a 
decision on the implementation of the Traffic Regulation Order. 

Consultation

9. The formal consultation was advertised in the Hampshire Independent 
newspaper, on the Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) website, the HCC Public 
Notices Portal and on public notices placed throughout affected areas.

10. Officers received comments regarding the proposals as listed below.

Statement of Reasons:

11. To implement a ‘No Waiting At Any Time’ restriction on Cheping Gardens, 
Beattie Rise and Westward Road in order to improve road safety. The effect 
of the restriction will be to;

- maintain visibility splays at the junction of Westward Road / Wildern Lane,

- maintain visibility splays at the junction of Cheping Gardens / Mortimer 
Road,

- prevent obstructive parking within Beattie Rise,

- prevent obstructive parking at Pretoria Road;

- implement an amendment to the parking restriction times on Cheltenham 
Gardens (however the original order had lapsed therefore the order requires 
initial implementation first). The effect of the restriction will be to:-

- prevent obstructive parking at Cheltenham Gardens

Summary of Comments: 

The advertisement of the proposed Traffic Regulation Order resulted in a 
single letter of support for Beattie Rise along with a request to extend the 
restriction. There were many objections received via phone calls and e mails 
concerning Pretoria Road with each respondent unhappy about losing on 
street parking; there were no comments in support of Pretoria Road.

15



Eastleigh Borough Council

Cheltenham Gardens received support from residents however the original 
order had not been implemented, which led to some confusion over what was 
being proposed.

Response to comments:

12. The support for the restriction in Beattie Rise is noted along with a request to 
extend the restriction.  Ongoing monitoring of the location will be undertaken. 

Recommendation:

13. Given the on-going safety issues at these locations and having regard to the 
comment received during the consultation, it is recommended that Councillors 
approve the ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ restrictions in Cheping Gardens, Beattie 
Rise and Westward Road. The amended Pretoria Road scheme should now 
be advertised either as a stand-alone TRO or included in the next variation 
order. The revised Cheltenham Gardens’ proposal should be implemented as 
an experimental order with a review at six months and a decision taken at 
eighteen months. The proposals will address the current safety issues whilst 
reducing the impact on residents’ parking.

Upper St. Helen’s Road/ The Pavilions

14. Upper St. Helen’s Road has also been investigated in response to reported 
visibility issues and obstructive parking. This proposal has received a large 
amount of feedback with no consensus as to the appropriate action. It is 
therefore necessary to review the feedback with residents and ward 
councillors so that an experimental traffic order can be implemented..

15. The Pavilions is the new housing development adjacent to the Ageas Bowl. 
The roads are un-adopted and at the moment are in the ownership of the 
developer’s Barratts. A proposal for an experimental TRO has been drafted 
for Barratts’ consideration. 

Financial Implications

16. The cost of the TRO and associated signs and road markings are funded 
through the Local Area Committee budget.  

17. Any amendments or new proposals which require the TRO to be re-advertised 
and further consultation to be carried out, will incur additional costs in terms of 
staff time and advertisement expenses that were not included in the original 
estimate for the work. Due to time and budget limitations, such changes would 
be better addressed through inclusion in a future Consolidation TRO.

Equality and Diversity Implications

18. An equal opportunities assessment has not been carried out because the 
report does not contain proposals for significant changes to existing services, 
polices or strategies and does not introduce any new services, policies or 

16



Eastleigh Borough Council

strategies. The proposed restrictions will not result in a loss of existing 
disabled bays.

Conclusions

19. The proposed Traffic Regulation Order to introduce new waiting restrictions 
for the stated roads in Hedge End, West End and Botley should be 
progressed. Further consultation is required for The Pavilions and Upper St. 
Helen’s Road’s proposals.

20. This report takes this into account and makes a recommendation to address 
the current safety concerns.

BRET WILLERS
Environment Lead Specialist

Date: 27 June 2018
Contact Officer: David Pickett
Tel No: 02380 68 8230
e-mail: David.pickett@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: One

LOCALISM ACT 2011, SECTION 1

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

17



Eastleigh Borough Council

Appendix One

18



Eastleigh Borough Council

                  

19



Eastleigh Borough Council

               

20



Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee - Monday 23 July 2018

Application Number: X/18/82986
Case Officer: Liz Harrison
Received Date: Tuesday 10 April 2018
Site Address: Land to the north west of Boorley Green, Winchester Road, 

Boorley Green, Eastleigh, Hampshire, SO32 2BX
Applicant: Miller Homes Ltd and Gleeson Developments Ltd
Proposal: Variation of Condition 12 of outline planning permission 

(O/15/75953) to enable foul drainage to be carried out in 
accordance with either the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment (Dec 2014) or details set out in the Foul 
Sewerage Assessment (March 2018 ref M380-Doc 05)

Recommendation:

Subject to:
i) Completion of Deed of Variation to ensure requirements of original 

S106 associated with O/15/75953 still apply
ii) Confirmation from Secretary of State that they do not intend to call 

the application in

then PERMIT subject to 

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

All conditions originally attached to planning permission O/15/75953 to be reattached 
with Conditions 4 and 12 reworded as follows and additional conditions 36, 37 and 
38:

(4) Application for all of the remaining phases of the development (subsequent to 
first reserved matters application RM/17/81628) shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority not later than 30 November 2019. 

(12) The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (by FMW 
Consultancy, FMW1467F, dated December 2014) and the following mitigation 
measures detailed within the FRA:

 All buildings and development must be located within Flood Zone 1 only. 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation 
and in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied 
within the scheme. 

With respect to foul drainage, the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with either the approved FRA or details set out within the Foul 
Sewerage Assessment, dated March 2018, reference M380-DOC05.  If 
installed, the on-site waste water treatment works shall be operated by an 
OFWAT regulated operator and the colour of the tanks shall be agreed prior 
to installation.

21

Agenda Item 9



(36) Prior to the installation of any on-site waste water treatment works a detailed 
implementation plan showing how sewage will be dealt with and how the plant 
operation shall be implemented up to full operation on site shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The on-site waste 
water treatment works shall be installed in affordance with the approved 
details.

Reason:  To enable the noise and odour impacts to be appropriately managed 
in order to protect residential amenities.

(37) Any fixed plant or machinery used at the on-site waste water treatment works 
shall be provided with suitable acoustic attenuation, or sited at agreed 
locations, to mitigate the effects of noise.  The details shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to installation.  
The on-site waste water treatment works shall be installed in accordance with 
the approved details.

Reason:  To enable the noise impacts to be appropriately managed in order to 
protect residential amenities.

(38) Prior to commencement of development on any on-site waste water treatment 
works details of a scheme of works to protect the occupants of the proposed 
dwellings from odours arising on the sewage treatment works site, shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until verification that the 
approved scheme has been fully implemented has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.

Report:

1. This application has been called to Committee by Members.        

Description of application

2. The application seeks to vary condition 12 on the outline planning permission 
O/15/75953 to enable the use of an on-site waste water treatment works for the 
disposal of foul drainage.  When outline planning permission was granted on 
appeal the Inspector attached various conditions to the permission.  Condition 
12 reads as follows:

The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (by FMW 
Consultancy, FMW1467F, dated December 2014) and the following mitigation 
measures detailed within the FRA:

22



 All buildings and development must be located within Flood Zone 1 only. 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation 
and in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied 
within the scheme. 

3. The original Flood Risk Assessment referred to in condition 12 stated that foul 
drainage will discharge to nearby public foul sewers owned and operated by 
Southern Water and that upgrades would be required in order for the required 
capacity to be provided.  The developers have been in discussion with 
Southern Water but Southern Water have not yet been able to confirm what 
infrastructure improvement works would be required so this application seeks to 
amend condition 12 to allow flexibility so that the foul drainage could be via 
mains infrastructure, as originally proposed, or via an on-site waste water 
treatment works (WWTW).

4. The on-site waste water treatment works would be operated by Icosa, an 
OFWAT registered operator and would be located in the northern corner of the 
site, with the nearest equipment being at least 18m from Winchester Road.  
The submitted details show the WWTW to consist of 3 tanks, each with a total 
height of 6.34m, but set into the ground by 1.5m such that their resultant height 
about ground level would be 4.84m, with a gantry running above them.  In 
addition the compound would contain a small office unit, and a number of other, 
smaller pieces of equipment.

5. The application is accompanied by the following reports, technical assessments 
and drawings which have been updated as necessary throughout the course of 
the application:

 Planning Statement
 Environmental Statement 
 Foul Sewerage Assessment

6. When considering the original application for outline planning permission it was 
concluded that an Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats Directive was 
not required. Since that time there has been a recent ruling by the Court of 
Justice of the European Union on the interpretation of the Habitats Directive.  It 
concluded, contrary to previous decisions by the courts in England and Wales, 
that proposed mitigation measures cannot be considered when screening a 
proposal to see if an Appropriate Assessment is required.  As such an 
Appropriate Assessment is now required for this revised development proposal 
as without mitigation it would have a likely significant effect on the Solent 
Maritime Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Solent and Southampton Water 
Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site, and the River Itchen SAC.  
The Appropriate Assessment concludes that:

 the financial contributions to the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy
 conditions related to:

  a Construction Environment Management Plan; 
  a surface water drainage system based on sustainable  

drainage principles; 
  a 15m wide buffer to Moorgreen Stream/Ford Lake; 

23



  removal of Japanese Knotweed; and
  Reduced water consumption levels; and

 the requirement for an Environmental Permit to discharge into 
Moorgreen Stream, 

would ensure that there is no adverse effect on the integrity of the designated 
sites identified.

The site and its surroundings

7. The Boorley Gardens development site is located within the parish of Botley 
and lies to the east of the Borough.  The overall site is a large, irregular 
shaped site that is approximately 45 hectares in size and lies to the west of 
Winchester Road in Boorley Green and to the north east of the Portsmouth to 
London Waterloo railway line.  The site adjoins Shamblehurst Lane North in 
the western corner, with Ford Brook/Moorgreen Stream forming the northern 
boundary of the site.  Botley Footpath no. 1 runs through the site from 
Winchester Road to Shamblehurst Lane North.  The village of Boorley Green 
lies to the east and south east of the site, with Hedge End railway station 
located to west of the site and the settlement of Hedge End to the west on the 
other side of the railway line.

8. With the exception of the buildings at Park Farm the site is currently 
undeveloped and consists of pasture and arable farmland with various 
hedgerows and tree belts on field boundaries and along the public right of 
way.  The northern part of the site is relatively flat, but it rises up in the 
southern part of the site 

9. The site is not located within a Conservation Area, nor are there any listed 
buildings or designated sites of nature conservation interest within the site.  
However the site is located within the 5.6km Solent Mitigation Disturbance 
Zone associated with the Solent and Southampton Water SPA.

Relevant planning history

10. Relevant planning history is as follows:

 O/15/75953 - Outline application for up to 680 residential units, mixed use 
comprising of retail and/or community/healthcare use, land for two-form 
entry primary school, formal and informal open space and sports pitches. 
New access off Winchester Road, associated on-site roads, infrastructure 
and footpaths/cycleways. Detailed matters for determination access (all 
other matters reserved - scale, appearance, landscaping and layout). This 
application is the subject of an Environmental Impact Assessment, is a 
departure from the Development Plan, is Major Development and affects 
the setting of a Right of Way – allowed on appeal 30.11.16

 RM/17/81628 - Reserved matters application (pursuant to outline planning 
permission O/15/75953 which was subject to an Environmental Impact 
Assessment) for Phase 1 scheme equating to 301 residential dwellings 
with associated parking, road infrastructure, landscaping, open space, 

24



surface water drainage networks, on-site waste water treatment works, 
provision of additional vehicular parking for Hedge End Railway Station 
and bus only connection to Shamblehurst Lane North – resolution to 
approve reserved matters

Representations received

11. 4 letters of objection have been received from adjoining residents and those 
living locally in relation to the following matters (summarised):

Impact of Waste Water Treatment Works (WWTW)
 WWTW would be located very close to neighbouring properties
 Impact on residential amenities due to smell
 Adverse visual impact
 Adverse impact on surface water drainage in area already prone to 

flooding 
 Noise and vibration from lorries removing sludge, exacerbating current 

issues with construction traffic in the area
 Documents focus on risks to dwellings within new development, rather 

than to existing community
 Adds to heavy over development of area and destruction of natural 

environment.
 River Hamble Harbour Authority request failsafe, telemetry and 

emergency procedures are in place.  The Council needs to be 
reassured of effectiveness of system scaled up to this magnitude to 
serve unusually high number of properties in this way.  Proposed 
system will be subject to Environmental Permit from Environment 
Agency.

Principle of overall development
 Impact on traffic, roads, infrastructure and facilities.  Additional 

environmental impact studies required.

Other matters
 Impact on property value and ability to sell in future.

Consultation responses (some of the responses have been summarised)

12. Landscape – The screening suggested by the visuals is adequate but it may 
not be achieved within 5 years without the overseeing of chartered landscape 
architects or professional landscape management specialists during planting 
and future maintenance.  10 years would be more certain.  There will be 
significantly less screening during dormant seasons but the planting mix does 
include some evergreen content.  Recommend that the native shrub mix 
around the sewerage treatment works is revised so that it is planted at an 
increased density.

25



13. Ecology – Given comments from Environment Agency and Natural England, 
no objection.  Developer should also comply with other statutory regulations 
outside the planning process.

14. Environmental Health - The nearest dwellings are 40m from the treatment 
plant.  Do have concerns re: impact on residential amenity due to odour and 
noise during plant set up and until it is operating at normal capacity.  During 
this time it will have lower input levels and temporary arrangements such as 
tankering waste effluent away, or importation to ‘dose’ the system may be 
necessary and these activities may give rise to unintended impacts.  
Therefore suggest a condition requiring a detailed implementation plan 
showing how sewage will be dealt with and plant operation will be 
implemented up to full operation on site, so as to manage noise and odour 
impacts that may arise. 

Not all plant appears to be housed in a dedicated plant room, e.g. motors 
appear to be located on top of mixing/treatment tanks, and background noise 
levels at night are likely to be low, therefore recommend condition re: acoustic 
attenuation of plant and machinery on site.

In respect of odour the close proximity of dwellings to the facility will require a 
high level of odour management and control, therefore suggest a condition 
requiring details of a scheme to protect occupants from odour to be submitted 
and agreed.

15. HCC Highways – No objection

16. HCC Countryside Access – No response

17. HCC Flood & Water Management – No comments to make, but would make 
applicant aware that any structure installed into a watercourse will required 
consent from Environment Agency or HCC depending on whether it is a Main 
River or Ordinary Watercourse.

18. Environment Agency – No objection to the amendment of this condition 
provided it refers to the foul drainage being disposed of by an OFWAT 
appointed undertaker, as the associated documents indicate.

19. Southern Water – No objection.  The details of the application propose to 
include alternative means of sewerage disposal in the approved drainage 
strategy.  Given the large scale of the development and significant off site 
sewerage infrastructure requirements to be provided to allow suitable 
drainage service provision, Southern Water would have no objections to the 
above.  Southern Water would rely on consultations with Environment Agency 
to determine suitable permanent and temporary foul sewerage disposal from 
the development site.  Any proposals to offer the surface water drainage 
network for adoption should be agreed and approved by the sewerage 
undertaker under S104 of the Water Industry Act before commencement.

20. Natural England – No objection

26



21. Ramblers – No comments on technical details of proposed sewerage 
arrangements.  Plans do not show legal route for pedestrians onto Winchester 
Road in the north eastern corner near proposed WWTW.

22. Botley Parish Council 
 At the Inquiry much emphasis was placed upon the fact that Southern 

Water was legally obliged to provide a sewerage connection.  This was 
a factor in the decision made by the Inspector. This application 
represents a significant and material change which could have affected 
the outcome of the appeal if the proposal had been known at the time.

 A housing estate is not a suitable location for an industrial plant of the 
size proposed.

 The developer is asked to provide evidence of where, in the UK, the 
experimental processing treatment is being used on a housing 
development of more than 300 homes.

 Members do not want Botley to be used as an experimental site for the 
processing of sewerage when no evidence has been provided that the 
proposed processing method is suitable for a housing development of 
670 units.

 Concern that the open settlement tanks would attract sea gulls and 
scavenging birds which would be a nuisance to residents.

 Request information about the containment measures that would 
prevent the discharge of raw or semi-processed sewage in the event 
that one of the storage or treatment tanks were damaged.

 Danger of polluting the River Hamble should be taken more seriously 
because effluent from the plant will be discharged into the Moorgreen 
Stream which is a tributary of the Hamble.

 Appears to be no information to indicate the size or height of the 
structures within the treatment works so cannot comment on risk of 
visual intrusion.

 The supporting documents indicate that the nearest available 
sewerage connection is 7km from the application site.  Developer 
should be required to issue a Section 68 notice to Southern Water and 
to make use of conventional sewerage disposal arrangements.

 Original EIA, prepared on the assumption of a sewerage connection 
into conventional infrastructure, now invalid and should be replaced.

 Members agreed to write to the Secretary of State to request a call-in 
of the application because the proposal represented a substantial and 
material change to the terms of the original application and to write to 
the Planning Inspectorate requesting a review of the decision to grant 
Outline Planning Permission in the light of the proposed revision of the 
original permission.

23. Hedge End Town Council – Reiterate previous comments on original outline 
application and are disappointed that there appears to be no significant 
amendment within the plans that demonstrates any effect on the key issues 
raised then.  It is unclear on the exact variation of the condition specified.

27



24. Curdridge Parish Council – Objection on the grounds that this proposal will 
add more water to a river which already regularly flows across Wangfield 
Lane and the ends of Maddoxford Lane and Netherhill Lane during heavy 
rainfall.

25. Durley Parish Council –Condition 12 should remain as the drainage should 
be installed before any housing is built.  Would not wish to see drainage put in 
after houses are built as this could cause issues for residents living in 
development and further away from area.  Flooding and drainage is an 
important part of this development.

26. Botley Parish Action Group – No response

Policy context:  designation applicable to site

 Designated Countryside
 Designated Local Gap
 Solent Mitigation and Disturbance Zone
 Public Right of Way
 Within HRA Screening Area

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

27. At the current time the Development Plan for the Borough comprises the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and the Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013).

Saved Policies of the Adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011

The relevant policies of the adopted local plan include:

 1.CO – Development in the countryside 
 3.CO – Development in the Local Gap
 22.NC – Protection of Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs)
 23.NC – Protection of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs)
 24.NC – Protection of protected species
 25.NC – Promotion of biodiversity
 26.NC – Enhancement of habitats of nature conservation importance
 29.ES – Development adjacent to noise-sensitive development
 32.ES – Pollution control
 41.ES – Development affecting water courses
 42.ES – Development in a catchment of a watercourse
 43.ES – Protection from flooding
 45.ES – Sustainable drainage
 59.BE – Design
 102.T – Safe Access
 190.IN – Infrastructure Provision

28



Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 

28. The application site does not lie within a Minerals Safeguarding Area.

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029

29. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application.

Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036

30. The Council is at the pre-Submission publication stage (Regulation 19) of the 
emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan for the Period 2016 – 2036.  The 
current consultation stage runs from 25 June until 6 August 2018 with 
submission to the Secretary of State scheduled for Autumn 2018.  The 
adoption of the Local Plan is anticipated in Summer 2019.  Given the status of 
the emerging Plan, it is considered that limited weight can be attributed to. 

Supplementary Planning Guidance

31. The following supplementary planning documents are of relevance to the 
application:

 Biodiversity (December 2009) 

National Planning Policy Framework

32. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material consideration 
of significant weight in the determination of planning applications.

Planning Practice Guidance 

33. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in consideration of 
planning applications 

Assessment of proposal:

34. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local planning 
authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

35. As indicated above the Development Plan comprises the Saved Policies of 
the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the NPPF and the 
Planning Practice Guidance constitute material considerations of significant 
weight.

29



The principle of development

36. The application seeks to vary condition 12 on the original outline permission 
(O/15/75953), which reads as follows:

The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (by FMW 
Consultancy, FMW1467F, dated December 2014) and the following mitigation 
measures detailed within the FRA:

 All buildings and development must be located within Flood Zone 1 
only. The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to 
occupation and in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements 
embodied within the scheme.

37. The original Flood Risk Assessment referred to in condition 12 stated that foul 
drainage will discharge to nearby public foul sewers owned and operated by 
Southern Water and that upgrades would be required in order for the required 
capacity to be provided.  The developers have been in discussions with 
Southern Water but Southern Water have not yet been able to tell them what 
upgrades would be required, how much they would cost or how long it would 
take for the works to be carried out.  As a result the applicants are now 
seeking an amendment to the condition to allow the foul drainage to be via 
mains infrastructure, as originally proposed, or via an on-site waste water 
treatments works.  The on-site waste water treatment works would be located 
in the northern corner of the site and discharge into Moorgreen Stream which 
flows into Ford Lake and then onto the River Hamble.  

38. The principle of residential development on this site accessed off Winchester 
Road, with a secondary access off Shamblehurst Lane North for additional 
parking for  the railway station and a bus-only connection through to the rest 
of the development was established when outline planning permission was 
granted on appeal in November 2016.  While the application seeks to vary a 
condition attached to the outline permission the principle of this site being 
developed for residential development cannot be reconsidered. The principle 
of the overall development on this site has therefore been established and 
cannot be reconsidered as part of this application.  Only issues related to the 
proposed installation of an on-site waste water treatment works should be 
considered in the determination of this application.

Sustainable development

39. The outline application considered matters of sustainability.  The Secretary of 
State concluded that the development was contrary to the local plan, would 
harm the landscape and result in the loss of countryside, but there would be a 
only very limited impact on views outside the site and its immediate 
surroundings.  In addition at the time of the decision, the Council was unable 
to demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply and the development would 
bring substantial benefits in terms of additional open market and affordable 
housing, for which there are substantial shortfalls; green infrastructure; and 

30



improved pedestrian and cycle links and connectivity, including to the railway 
station.  As such the Secretary of State concluded that the proposals would 
amount to sustainable development.  

40. In determining this application it is necessary to consider whether the 
proposed on-site wastewater treatment works justifies a different conclusion 
being reached in relation to the sustainability of the proposal.  In paragraphs 
7, 8, and 14 the NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, indicating that it has an economic, a social and an 
environmental role. These roles should not be undertaken in isolation as they 
are mutually dependent and therefore the application is assessed against all 
three headings. It also states that when determining applications those that 
accord with the development plan should be approved without delay. Where 
the development plan is absent, silent or the relevant policies are out-of-date, 
permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against 
the policies in the NPPF as a whole; or where specific policies in the NPPF 
indicate development should be restricted.

Economic sustainability

41. One of the core planning principles of the NPPF (paragraph 17) is to 
proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to deliver, 
amongst other things, the homes, businesses, industrial units and 
infrastructure that the country needs.  

42. In order for the 680 dwellings, the primary school and retail/community uses 
to be delivered appropriate provisions for foul drainage infrastructure needs to 
be made.  As there is insufficient capacity in the current system improvements 
would be required to enable this development to connect into the mains 
drainage.  As indicated at the outline application stage the applicant had 
intended to connect into the mains drainage infrastructure operated by 
Southern Water.  They have entered into discussions with Southern Water 
regarding the extent of the infrastructure improvement works required but 
Southern Water are unable at present to confirm what works would be 
required, how much they would cost and how long they would take to 
complete.  While Southern Water have provided a preliminary budget 
estimate to the applicant Southern Water have said that it may alter 
considerably upon completion of detailed investigations and have indicated 
that these investigations and the detailed design work could take 77 weeks 
and that it could then take 6 months or more to undertake the works, once 
agreed.  Given a timescale of over a year before the nature of the proposed 
works are confirmed and costed and around 2 years before they would be 
operational the developer has sought alternative approaches to enable 
development to come forward at a faster rate.

43. The alternative approach they have chosen is for the provision of an on-site 
waste water treatment works that would be managed and maintained by a 
water company, Icosa, which is fully regulated by OFWAT.  The foul water will 
be entirely treated on site with treated water being discharged into Moorgreen 

31



Stream and any residual waste being tankered off-site for disposal once a 
week by a 32 tonne tanker.  It is anticipated that the WWTW could be 
constructed in 6 months, followed by a 3 month test and commissioning 
phase before it is operational, ensuring that development could be delivered 
sooner than if the site was to be connected to the mains drainage once the 
improvement works had been carried out.

44. As it would assist with the earlier delivery of development on site it is 
considered to be economically sustainable.

Social Sustainability

45. As indicated above the proposed on-site WWTW would provide essential 
infrastructure for the new Boorley Gardens development, which cannot rely on 
the existing sewer network in the locality without significant upgrades, the 
extent of which are currently unknown.  Therefore the WWTW would enable 
future residents and occupiers to be provided with the necessary facilities and 
ensure that the existing foul drainage infrastructure in Boorley Green is not 
adversely affected by the foul drainage requirements of the new development.  

46. As such it is considered that the proposed development is socially 
sustainable.

Environmental Sustainability

47. The environmental sustainability of this proposal is a key consideration, with 
the nature of the proposal having potential to impact on a number of 
environmental factors, including:

 Land within the countryside and gap
 Landscape and Visual Impact 
 Pollution, Water Quality and Drainage
 Ecology
 Noise and Odour

48. Countryside & Local Gap – the site is located within the Countryside and 
Local Gap under the adopted Local Plan, covered by policies 1.CO and 3.CO; 
however the site is located within the wider development of Boorley Gardens 
for which outline planning permission has been granted and it would be 
unreasonable to refuse the application on the grounds of the impact on the 
Countryside and Local Gap given that it would be surrounded by existing or 
proposed development in due course.

49. Landscape & Visual Impact – the WWTW would be located in the north-
eastern corner of the site, adjacent to Winchester Road.  As described above 
it would consist of 3 tanks, each with a total height of 6.34m, but set into the 
ground by 1.5m such that their resultant height about ground level would be 
4.84m, with a gantry running above them.  In addition the compound would 
contain a small office unit, and a number of other, smaller pieces of 
equipment.  The tanks cannot be set any further into the ground due to the 
ground water levels.  The compound would be enclosed by a 1.8m high 

32



palisade fence with a hedge of species chosen to provide screening and a 
defensible barrier running around it.  Outside of this will be a tree belt to 
provide further screening.  Landscape visuals of key views have been 
prepared and illustrate that the new trees to be planted will grow to be taller 
than the tanks and that the WWTW will be generally screened from view, with 
only filtered views through the trees and undergrowth depending on the time 
of year.  It is noted that the visuals are said to represent growth after 5 years 
but the Council’s Landscape Specialist considers that it is more likely to be 
representative of growth after 10 years.  It is accepted that whilst the new 
landscaping is establishing itself the WWTW will be more visible, but the 
existing trees and vegetation along Winchester Road will provide some 
screening from the outset.  The protection of these trees has been considered 
during the determination of the reserved matters application for Phase 1, 
which includes the land for the WWTW, and it has been demonstrated that 
these trees can be protected during construction.

50. It is accepted that a WWTW is not a feature regularly viewed in the area and 
that it will be visible at times from certain viewpoints.  However, due to its 
height, which would be less than the height of the nearest house, and the 
proposed landscape screening it is not considered that it would have a 
significantly detrimental impact on the character of the surrounding area such 
as to warrant refusing the application.  

51. Pollution, Water Quality and Drainage – As noted above Natural England and 
the Environment Agency have raised no objection to the proposed use of a 
WWTW on this site.  The WWTW will be run by an OFWAT regulated water 
operator and an Environmental Permit will be required from the Environment 
Agency to enable the treated water to discharge into the nearby Moorgreen 
Stream.  The Environmental Permit will require certain standards to be met to 
ensure that the water quality is maintained and does not have an adverse 
impact on the Solent Waters.  As these issues are covered by other legislation 
the Local Planning Authority are not able to duplicate these controls and 
therefore, while the concerns expressed in the representations are noted, it 
would not be reasonable to refuse the application on the grounds of impact on 
water quality when we are advised by the statutory bodies that the proposed 
works and the technology used are acceptable.

52. As the WWTW feeds into Moorgreen Stream this will have to be taken into 
account in the design of the surface water drainage strategy for the site to 
ensure that there is no increase above the greenfield run-off rate from the site.  
Both the surface water drainage system and the WWTW can be designed to 
control the outflow of water at an appropriate rate so that it does not increase 
the future run-off rates above the existing rates.  Details of the proposed 
surface water strategy are required by condition and as such the proposed 
WWTW would not have an adverse impact on surface water and it would be 
unreasonable to refuse the application on those grounds.

53. The previous requirement that all buildings and development must be located 
within Flood Zone 1 only and mitigation measures set out in the Flood Risk 

33



Assessment fully implemented will remain to ensure no increase in flood risk 
to the site or wider area.

54. The proposed on-site WWTW does need a minimum input before it can be 
operational and the occupation of approximately 70 dwellings should provide 
sufficient input for the system to be operational.  Prior to that the foul sewage 
will be tankered off site for disposal with the frequency of the tanker 
increasing from once a week for 10 dwellings to once a day for 60-70 
dwellings.  While it would be beneficial if the WWTW could operate from 1st 
occupation it is considered to be a relatively short length of time and is an 
approach that has been used elsewhere as an interim measure while 
permanent drainage facilities are installed.

55. Ecology – In addition to the impact on water quality it is also necessary to 
consider the impact of the proposals on the other local ecological interests.  
The parameter plans for the original outline permission showed this area to be 
part of the built-up part of the site and the reserved matters application for 
Phase 1 showed the WWTW in this corner of the site.  It is considered that the 
siting of the WWTW retains the required buffer from Moorgreen Stream and 
would not have a significantly detrimental impact on any other ecological 
interests.

56. Noise and Odour – the nearest dwellings are new dwellings and are a 
minimum of 40m from the WWTW.  Environmental Health has raised 
concerns that not all plant is contained within a plant room and that noise 
could be perceptible to residents.  As such an additional condition is proposed 
requiring details of acoustic attenuation of all plant and machinery to be 
submitted so that suitable mitigation can be provided.  

57. Similarly Environmental Health has raised some concern about the impact of 
odour on residential amenity.  This concern does not relate to the general 
operation of the WWTW but rather in the interim stages before the WWTW 
has reached its optimum capacity and also during tankering.  As such 
Environmental Health have requested conditions requiring a detailed 
implementation plan showing how sewage will be dealt with and plant 
operation will be implemented up to full operation on site, so as to manage 
noise and odour issues that may arise, and a condition to secure a scheme to 
protect occupants from odour.

Access and Highway Safety

58. HCC Highway has raised no objection to the proposal.  The road layout 
leading to the site was assessed during the consideration of the reserved 
matters application for the 1st phase and shown to be able to accommodate 
vehicles assessing the WWTW site.  Consideration is being given to using the 
existing access immediately to the north of the WWTW as a separate access 
so that vehicles do not need to access the WWTW through the residential 
area, but this would need planning permission in any event is not considered 
necessary from a highway safety perspective.

34



Residential Amenity

59. As set out above Environmental Health has expressed some concerns about 
possible impact on residential amenity from noise and odour but have 
recommended additional conditions to control these issues.

60. The comments regarding visual impact are noted and addressed above in 
relation to the wider area.  The nearest dwellings are a minimum of 40m from 
the WWTW with significant landscaping and tree planting in between.  While 
the WWTW will be visible to these residents initially and glimpsed views 
through the landscaping as it matures it is considered that the separation 
distance is such that it would not have an overbearing impact.

61. As such it is considered that it would not be reasonable to refuse the 
application on the grounds of the WWTW housing a significantly detrimental 
impact on residential amenities.

Planning Obligations

62. To ensure that the S106 associated with the original outline planning 
permission still applies to this revised development proposal a Deed of 
Variation will need to be completed prior to any permission being granted.  No 
new or varied obligations are required. 

Other matters

63. The Parish Council has recently written to the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government asking the Secretary of State to give a 
direction restricting the grant of the variation of the condition by Eastleigh 
Borough Council.

64. This request does not prevent the Local Area Committee considering this 
application at this committee; however the Council cannot issue any decision 
until the Secretary of State has fully assessed the request to call in the 
application.  The recommendation to Members reflects this position.

 
Conclusion

65. For the reasons outlined above the proposed variation to Condition 12 to 
provide a flexible approach to the provision of foul drainage is considered to 
be acceptable and the recommendation is to permit the variation, subject to a 
Deed of Variation for the existing S106 legal agreement, the recommended 
conditions and the Secretary of State not calling the application in.

35



36



Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee – Monday 23 July 
2018

Application Number: F/18/83174
Case Officer: David Huckfield
Received Date: Friday 11 May 2018
Site Address: TWINOAKS GUESTHOUSE, 43 UPPER NORTHAM ROAD, 

HEDGE END, SOUTHAMPTON, SO30 4EA
Applicant: Assure Healthcare Group
Proposal: Change of use from Guest House (Use Class C1) to 

children's care home facility (use Class C2) with associated 
changes to fenestration.

Recommendation: PERMIT

CONDITIONS AND REASONS:

(1) The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance 
with the following plans numbered: C18/028.01, C18/028.02, C18/028.03, 
C18/028.04, C18/028.05, C18/028.06, C18/028.07, C18/028.08. Reason: 
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

 
(2) The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years 

from the date of this decision. Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

(3) The use hereby approved shall not be commenced until the following 
details of have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority:

i. Bin and cycle storage to serve the proposed use;
ii. Details of boundary treatments; and, 
iii. Any ancillary external structures to be provided which are 

associated with the proposed use.

The development shall then be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. Reason: In the interests of the amenity and to ensure 
the adequate provision of on-site facilities. 

 
(4) The premises shall be used only as a children’s care home for up to five 

children, up to the age of 17 years old, and for no other purpose 
whatsoever (including any other purpose within Class C2 of the Schedule 
to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 as amended 
or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument 
revoking and/or re-enacting that Order with or without modification). 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and to ensure the provision of suffient 
on-site car parking. 

 

37

Agenda Item 10



(5) The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted shall match as closely as possible in type, 
colour and texture to those used on the existing building. Reason: To 
ensure a satisfactory visual relationship between the new development 
and the existing. 

(6) The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
area shown on the approved layout plan (drawing number C18/028.05) for 
the parking of vehicles associated with the proposed use shall have been 
made available. This parking area shall thereafter be permanently 
retained and reserved for that purpose at all times. Reason: To ensure 
satisfactory parking provision in the interests of highway safety. 

Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, 
whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt 
with in a timely manner.

Report:

1. This application has been referred to Committee because it is deemed to 
be controversial. 

Description of application

2. The application seeks approval for the change of use of the property from 
a guest house / B&B which falls within the C1 (hotels and guest houses) 
use class, to a children’s care home, a C2 (residential institutions) use. 
The home would provide care for a maximum of 5 children up to the age 
of 17 and with a range of care needs including autism, learning disabilities 
and challenging behavioural issues. The home would be run by the 
Assure Healthcare Group who operate a number of other care facilities 
within Hampshire providing a range of residential, personal and day care 
services. 

3. The proposals include limited physical alterations to the building with 
some internal reconfiguration works to provide a communal living room on 
the ground floor of the property, as well as an enlarged bedroom at first 
floor level. In terms of external alterations, these are limited to changes to 
the fenestration associated with the room denoted as ‘room 1’ on the 
submitted proposed floor plans. This room is situated to the south-eastern 
corner of the property’s ground floor level, with an existing window on its 
eastern side elevation to be bricked up and the current patio-style doors to 
its southern side to be replaced with a window. 

The site and its surroundings

38



4. The application site comprises of a detached property set on a good sized 
plot. The building was originally constructed as a modest single-storey 
residential bungalow, with it having been extensively enlarged in the 
intervening period to create a large two-storey building of an L-shaped 
footprint. The property is presently used as a guest house comprising of 8 
guest bedrooms with a communal dining area to the rear. The owners’ 
living accommodation which is set across two-levels is situated in the 
property’s front projection. Off-road parking is provided on a large area of 
hardstanding to the front, with there being amenity space which is largely 
laid to lawn at the rear. There are mature Oak trees on the site’s eastern 
boundary to both the front and rear of the property which are subject to a 
Preservation Order. No works are proposed to these trees as part of the 
application. 

5. The site is situated within the urban edge and falls to the northern side of 
Upper Northam Road, to the west of Hedge End centre. The surrounding 
area is predominantly residential in nature with dwellings of a mixture of 
designs and periods in the immediate vicinity of the application site. The 
Grange Nursing Home and Hedge End Baptist Church lie to the opposing 
side of Upper Northam Road to the south-west. 

Relevant planning history

 Z/31342/000 – Change of use of ground floor from residential to 
veterinary surgery and first floor extensions to roof to provide staff flat 
– REFUSED (04/01/1990)

 Z/31342/001 – Ground and first floor extensions – REFUSED 
(23/08/1991)

 Z/31342/002 – Alterations and extensions to existing bungalow to 
form two storey dwelling house – APPROVED (05/03/1992)

 Z/31342/003 – Addition of dormer window in east elevation – 
APPROVED (12/10/1993)

 Z/31342/004 – Construction of detached garage to front of property – 
REFUSED (03/11/1999)

 Z/31342/005 – Construction of attached garage – REFUSED 
(22/05/2000)

 Z/31342/007 – Change of use to enable mixed use as dwellinghouse 
and guest house, construction of conservatory and re-positioning of 
dropped kerb – APPROVED (17/05/2002)

 F/05/55452 Change of use from guest house to day nursery for 60 
children – REFUSED (11/01/2006)

Representations Received

39



6. A total of 40 letters of objection have been received in relation to the 
application with the following concerns being raised:

 Insufficient car parking for staff, visitors and deliveries.
 Proposals will accentuate existing parking issues in the local area.
 Highway safety and access concerns.
 Limited public transport options in the local area. 
 Increase in vehicle emissions, noise and pollution. 
 The impacts of the proposals are different to those of a guest house in 

terms of movements and turnaround in visitors, with the owners being 
the only permanent residents on any given day.

 The location of the site along a busy road will put future residents in 
danger. 

 The facility is not ideal for children due to noise and traffic causing 
disturbance for them and the rear amenity area is not large enough. 

 The location is unsuitable for this type of use.
 Impact on the character of this predominantly residential area. 
 The description of the proposals as a children’s care home is 

misleading as operators provide care for adults. 
 Lack of information provided in relation to proposed use. 
 Concerns regarding anti-social behaviour and impacts on community 

and public safety as a result of residents and the nature of the use. 
 Concerns that the site will be used for people with substance misuse. 
 Hedge End does not have the infrastructure or health amenities to 

support adult health and social care needs, especially for substance 
misuse. 

 There is no need for this facility in the local area. 
 Does not fit in with the local demographic which is elderly or retired 

people. 
 Loss of value to surrounding properties. 
 Impact on safety and security at nearby nursing home. 
 Lack of notification on application. 
 Impacts on neighbouring amenity through noise, disturbance, 

overlooking and smells. 
 The rear boundaries of the site are not secure. 
 Impacts from possible location of bin stores, smoking shelters and 

additional boundary treatments. 
 Concerns regarding possible use of shed in rear garden for activities 

associated with the care use and possible disturbance arising from 
this. 

 Overdevelopment. 
 The application setting a precedent for further such changes of use 

which will erode the character of the area. 
 Impacts on protected Oak Trees on site. 
 Impacts on trees along rear boundary. 

Response to representations received

40



7. The matter of the impact of the proposals upon the value of property or 
the effect of the development upon neighbouring residents’ ability to sell 
their homes in future is not a material planning consideration and 
therefore cannot be taken into account when determining this application. 

8. In respect of concerns regarding the application setting a precedent for 
other similar facilities in the area in future, each case must be considered 
upon its own merits and the acceptability of other such uses, if these were 
to be proposed, would have to be considered by the local planning 
authority at the time and based upon the specific impacts and context of 
the particular application submitted. 

9. In terms of the matter of the perceived lack of clarity in the application in 
regards to the proposed use, the applicant has provided an additional 
statement in response to the third party representations received and at 
the request of the local planning authority. This, amongst other things, 
confirms that whilst the applicant also provides care facilities for adults 
elsewhere, the use proposed is for a children’s care home as stated on 
the application form. In the interests of clarity, a child is anyone under the 
age of 18 years old. 

10. In terms of the publicity undertaken for the application, this was carried 
out by the local planning authority in accordance with the Council’s 
adopted notification procedures and the relevant statutory requirements of 
the General Permitted Development Order. 

11. The other matters that have been raised in regards to highway safety, 
amenity and the impact upon the character of the area are considered in 
the below assessment of the proposals. 

Consultation Responses

12. Hedge End Town Council – Objection on the grounds of the proposals 
being out of keeping for that specific local area coupled with parking 
hazards, highway safety concerns and potential on-street parking issues 
from the nearby nursing home. 

13. Hampshire Highways – No objections on highways grounds

14. Environmental Health Specialist – The existing use is as a guest house 
therefore there are currently vehicle movements to and from the facility, 
not associated with a residential use.  Within the additional information 
provided it is noted that the number of staff to children ratio is high, 3- 4 
staff to 5 children, therefore the supervision should ensure control on 
issues such as noise.

15. There are neighbouring properties next to the proposed care home and 
also a neighbouring property to the rear of the garden area. There is a 
nursing home across from the proposed care home. The house structure 

41



should contain any noise from residents however in warm weather they 
may wish to ventilate the house which would mean opening of windows 
and therefore if there is internal noise from the occupants this could 
become an issue. In addition the dining area is a conservatory and this 
will not contain noise as well as the brick built house structure. 

16. Based on the additional information provided by the applicant on the 
proposed use, there is the potential for noise to cause an impact on 
residential amenity if any of the residents do have vocalisation issues and 
windows are open, and the use of the garden area is intended. There is a 
shed proposed at the rear of the garden area but there are no other 
garden buildings proposed.

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Within Built-up Area Boundary
 Within Established Residential Area
 The Site is Subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO 277)

Legislative provisions, development plan saved policies, emerging local 
plan policies, SPD’s and National planning policy

Legislative provisions:

17. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local 
planning authority determining an application to do so in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

The Development Plan

18. At the current time the Development Plan for the Borough comprises the 
Saved Policies within the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-
2011) and the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013).

The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011

19. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 (the adopted Local 
Plan) was adopted in May 2006. In November 2008, the Council 
submitted a list of proposed Saved Policies to the Secretary of State with 
a request that they be saved until they could be replaced by a new Local 
Development Framework. The policies detailed below were saved and are 
considered to be of relevance to the development proposals.

20. Saved policy 59.BE requires development to take full and proper account 
of the context of the site including the character and appearance of the 
locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, design and 
siting. It also requires a high standard of landscape design, that 
development has a satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, 
cyclists and pedestrians, makes provision for refuse and cycle storage 

42



and avoids unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, 
loss of light, loss of outlook, and noise, disturbance and fumes. 

21. Saved Policies 100.T, 101.T and 104.T refer to highway related matters 
and respectively require that development be sited where it is, or could 
be, well served by sustainable modes of travel, includes measures that 
minimise its impact on the highway network, make provision for 
developers contributions towards transport improvements where 
additional trips will occur on the network, and provide for adequate off-
road parking to serve the development or use proposed. 

Emerging Local Plan Policies

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014:

22. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient 
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  
While this has not been withdrawn and remains a material consideration, 
it can therefore be considered to have extremely limited weight in the 
determination of this application. 

Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036:

23. The Council is at the pre-Submission publication stage (Regulation 19) of 
the emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan for the Period 2016 – 2036. 
The current consultation stage runs from 25 June until 6 August 2018 with 
submission to the Secretary of State scheduled for Autumn 2018. The 
adoption of the Local Plan is anticipated in Summer 2019.  Given the 
status of the emerging Plan, it is considered that limited weight can be 
attributed to it. 

24. In respect of this application, the relevant policies of the 2011-2029 and 
2016-2036 plans essentially echo the requirements of those of the 
adopted local plan as listed above and are not therefore considered to 
effect the recommendation put forward.

Supplementary Planning Documents

 Quality Places
 Residential Parking Standards
 Accommodation for Older People and Those in Need of Care
 Planning Obligations

National Planning Policy Framework

25. At a national level, The National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ 
or the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. 

43



National Planning Practice Guidance 

26. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the 
consideration of planning applications. 

Assessment of Proposal

Principle

27. The application site lies within the urban edge within the Council’s 
adopted Local Plan, where the basic principle of development is 
considered to be acceptable. In addition, the Council’s adopted 
Supplementary Planning Document: Accommodation for Older People 
and Those in Need in Care states, specifically in respect of conversions 
relating to care-based uses, that within the urban edge the re-use of 
buildings for C2 purposes is deemed to be appropriate in certain 
circumstances, such as where there is no conflict with openness and the 
proposals are in keeping with their surroundings. 

28. It is considered therefore that the general principle of a C2 use in this 
location is acceptable. The granting of any formal planning approval, 
however, is subject to the exact nature, design and impact of the specific 
use and development proposed being considered to be appropriate and in 
accordance with the relevant local plan policies and supplementary 
guidance as set out above. 

Layout, design and impact on the character of the area

29. In terms of the impact of the proposed use on the character of the area, 
concerns have been raised within the representations received regarding 
the appropriateness of a care home of this nature being sited within what 
is a substantively residential area and how this may change or affect the 
locality. The issue of the potential or perceived associated impacts which 
have been cited by residents in respect of amenity are considered in the 
section below, however, in regards to the appropriateness of the siting of 
the use within such an area, the Council’s adopted SPD on 
Accommodation for Older People and Those in Need of Care, sets out 
provisions and guidance in relation to the matters of the location, 
accessibility and integration with the community, of care uses. 

30. This SPD emphasises (paragraph 4.23 – 4.24) the importance of 
residents being in close proximity to adequate services and facilities to 
cater for their needs, and that the local area should also provide 
opportunities for residents to integrate with the local community, in order 
to improve their quality of life. These point are also highlighted within 
National Planning Policy, with Paragraph 69 of the NPPF setting out that 
“the planning system can play an important role in facilitating social 
interaction and creating, healthy and inclusive communities”, with one of 
the core planning principles of the Framework (paragraph 17) being that 
planning should “take account of and support local strategies to improve 

44



health, social and cultural wellbeing for all, and deliver sufficient 
community and cultural facilities and services to meet local needs.” 

31. The applicant, within the supporting statement provided, has also alluded 
to similar considerations. This statement sets out that best practice 
highlights the importance of placements for children who require more 
specialised provision being such that appropriate access to the support of 
services within the local area is provided. It also emphasises the need for 
children requiring such provision to be placed as close to their existing 
family networks and support systems as possible, with this, as well as the 
collaboration of the services and the wider community, helping to ensure 
that children are able to grow both knowing and feeling part of their 
community, as well as aspiring to make a positive contribution to it. 

32. Providing care in the community has long been promoted for people with 
varying needs and is often the best way in which to ensure that those 
needing help have the opportunity to integrate and thrive within their 
communities. The siting of a facility such as this within a residential area is 
therefore considered to be appropriate and is supported by both local and 
national planning policy. It is also a material consideration that the use, 
similar to the present guest house, also falls within the umbrella of the 
planning ‘C’ use classes which covers a range of residential uses. The 
intensity of use will also not be significantly different to at present, with a 
maximum of 5 children and their carers not being deemed to represent a 
materially greater level of potential occupation than what it is currently an 
8-bedroom guest house with ancillary owners’ accommodation. 

33. The proposals also incorporate very limited alterations to the exterior of 
the building, with these comprising of fenestrational changes to two 
ground floor windows which serve the room denoted as ‘room 1’ on the 
submitted floor plans. These changes involve the removal / bricking-up of 
an existing side facing window, as well as an existing set of patio doors 
within the building’s front elevation being changed to a window. These 
changes in themselves are not considered to have a significant impact 
upon the exterior of the property or how it would visually appear within the 
street scene relative to the present guest house use. Taking account of all 
the above factors it is not deemed that the proposals would undermine or 
significantly materially alter the prevailing character of the area. Similarly, 
whilst the comments in regards to the loss of a guest house facility in the 
local area are noted, there is nothing in planning policy terms that 
prevents against the loss of such uses.

34. A number of the third party representations received have also alluded to 
potential further works including bin stores, changes to front boundary 
treatments and additional structures such as smoking shelters being 
placed within the rear garden of the property, which it is understood may 
have resulted from a consultation event held by the applicant. Further 
concerns have been raised in regards to the adequacy of existing rear 
boundary treatments. These works are not covered within the submission 
and depending upon their nature and extent may or may not require 

45



planning permission. In order to ensure that these works are appropriate 
and do not affect amenity of parking arrangements, as well as in the case 
of bin and cycle storage ensure adequate provision, a condition is 
recommended to require details of these measures prior to the use 
proposed commencing. 

Traffic, Parking & Highway Safety

35. A number of concerns have been raised by neighbouring residents in 
regards to highway safety issues, with these pertaining principally to 
additional traffic generation and notably parking, with there reportedly 
being existing problems in the immediate area in this regard. These 
concerns relate to on-site parking provision for staff and visitors and 
whether there is sufficient useable space on the site frontage to ensure 
that on-street parking, which could result in obstruction to neighbouring 
residents and to the public highway itself, would not be required. 

36. The application property has a relatively large frontage area which is laid 
to hardstanding and, as shown on the submitted site layout plan, is 
capable of accommodating parking for at least 5 vehicles, with additional 
space being physically available if tandem parking were to be utilised. 
Whilst the Council’s Residential Parking Standards SPD does not contain 
a specific standard for children’s care homes, it is considered that the 
requirements are comparable to those of a nursing and rest home with 
residents themselves being unlikely to drive or use cars but parking being 
necessitated for visitors, healthcare professionals and on-site staff. The 
parking requirement for uses of this nature within the Council’s SPD is 1 
car parking space per 6 bedrooms plus 1 space per staff member. Based 
upon 5 residents residing in the property and up to 4 members of staff 
being present, this equates to a total parking requirement of 5 spaces 
which the development would provide for. 

37. It is also necessary to have regard to the existing authorised use of the 
building, with this currently being used as a guest house with up to 8 
rooms available, in addition to the owners living area within the premises. 
The proposed occupancy therefore, which incorporates a maximum of 5 
children in addition to care staff, overall would not be considered to 
generate significantly more traffic or parking than the existing premises 
which could, if at capacity, result in a similar or greater level of occupancy. 
As such, the highways authority has raised no objection to the application 
and it is not therefore considered that the scheme would have an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety within the area such as to justify 
the refusal of the application on these grounds. 

Amenity of neighbours and wider area

38. Concern has been raised within the objections received that the proposed 
use of the property as a residential care home will lead to anti-social 
behaviour within the local area, to the detriment of the amenity of 
neighbouring residents. Further issues have been raised in regards to the 

46



impact upon the privacy of neighbouring residents, as well as the 
possibility of disturbance which could impact upon amenity, with the latter 
point having also been referenced by the Council’s Environmental Health 
Specialist. 

39. In respect of the first of these matters, whilst acknowledging that the 
residents of the facility will have a range of varying complex needs which 
require specialist care, there is considered to be nothing to indicate that 
problems of crime or anti-social behaviour will result from the presence of 
this facility in this location or that this would provide sufficient grounds in 
planning terms to justify the refusal of the application. The proposal is for 
a modest sized home which would provide care for no more than 5 
children at any one time, with these children being under the care and 
supervision of specialist staff. The care home would also be subject to 
strict legislative requirements, outside of the planning process, which 
cover care uses of this nature and the facility would be registered and 
regulated by Ofsted, who have their own audit and inspection framework 
to ensure that the home is run in accordance with the relevant standards. 
In terms of the question raised as to whether or not the facility could in 
future provide care for adults, a condition can be imposed to control the 
use of the facility which includes restricting both the age as well as the 
number of residents for which care can be provided. 

40. In regards to the matter of intrusion of privacy and overlooking, as noted 
above there are very limited external alterations proposed to the building, 
with none of these being at first floor level. The use will also remain 
residential in nature and whilst being different to a guest house, it is not 
considered that there will be any unacceptable material increase in levels 
of overlooking resulting from the change of use. 

41. The potential for disturbance to occur has also been cited by residents 
and is alluded to by the Council’s Environmental Health Specialist in their 
consultation response with regards to the specific matter of possible 
vocalisations from residents when using the property’s rear garden or if 
the property windows are opened. In terms of the question of movements 
first of all, whilst acknowledging that patterns may differ to some degree, 
overall levels would not be considered to be materially greater than the 
present use of the building as a guest house and it would be very difficult 
to justify therefore that a undue level of disturbance would result in this 
regard. 

42. Similarly, in terms of possible noise from residents, given the limited level 
of occupancy with a maximum of 5 children being cared for and taking 
account of the size of the property, which if it was a residential dwelling 
could house a large family with a comparable number of children, whilst 
acknowledging that there may be occasional instances of disturbance it is 
not considered that this would be such a regular occurrence as to justify 
substantive harm to amenity or to warrant a clear and justifiable reason for 
refusal. Similarly, it would not be reasonable to impose conditional 
restrictions on the use of the external garden area as this would unduly 

47



restrict the nature of the use applied for, to the extent that any such 
condition would fail to comply with the test of reasonableness as set out in 
paragraph 206 of the NPPF.

43. Finally in regards to amenity, it has also been suggested within the 
representations received that the external space would not be sufficient 
for the number of proposed occupiers and that the location of the site on a 
relatively busy main road would put the occupants at risk. However, as 
noted above, as a guest house or indeed as a dwelling of this size 
accommodating a large family, the property could result in similar levels of 
occupation and the locational characteristics are or would be the same for 
these uses. As noted above, children within the home will also be cared 
for and supervised by trained staff in order to ensure their safety.  

Planning Obligations/Considerations

44. It is not considered that the proposed development would result in an 
increase in trips to and from the site relative to its current authorised use 
as a guest house. Accordingly, there is deemed to be no requirement for 
developer contributions towards sustainable transport measures. There 
are no other planning obligation requirements associated with the use 
proposed. 

Other Material Considerations

45. None.

Conclusion

46. In conclusion, whilst the concerns and objections that have been raised by 
neighbouring residents are acknowledged, it is considered that the 
proposals comply with the relevant local and national planning policies 
and guidance and, accordingly, it is recommended that planning 
permission be granted for the change of use of the building to a children’s 
care home, subject to the conditions listed at the outset of this report. 

48



49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Financial Management
	7 Traffic Regulation Order
	9 Planning Application - Land to the north west of Boorley Green, Winchester Road
	10 Planning Application - Twinoaks Guest House, Hedge End

